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PUTHAM counTy

SUPREME COURT : STATE OF NEW YORK'! FRp To commence the statutory
COUNTY OF PUTNAM 2007 time period for appeals as of
HON. PAUL 1. MARX, J S.C. 0CT 27 PH J:4p  right (CPLR § 5513 [a]), you
-------------------------------------------------------------------- X arc adviscd to serve a copy
JOHN BRANDOFINO and MARIA BRANDOFINO, of this order, with notice of
entry, upon all parties.
Plaintitfs,
-against-
DECISION AND ORDER
SHARON SHEIL, NRT NEW YORK, LLC, A Index No. 1640/2016
DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,
COILDWELL BANKER RESIDENTIAL BROKERAGE, Motion Date: July 5, 2017
A DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, Motion Seq. No. 1

BUILDING CARE CORP., A NEW YORK
CORPORATION D/B/A ALL COUNTY PEST
CONTROL, EDWARD BINNS, and CHASE
BANK, N.A.,

Defendants.

The following papers numberced | 1o 4 were read on Defendant JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A.’s' (“Chasc”) motion (o dismiss Plaintiffs John and Maria Brandofino’s (“Plaintif{s”) complaint
and co-defendants Sharon Sheil, NRT New York, LLC and Coldwell Banker Residential
Brol_&eragc’s (“Co-Delendants™) cross-claims against Chase pursuant to CPLR §§ 321 1(a)(1)and (7),

with prejudice:

Notice of Motion/Affirmation of Scott W. Parker, Esq./Exhibits A-K ............. 1-2
Affirmation of Mitchell P. Licberman, Esq. in Opposition and in Support of Plaintiffs’
Cross-Motion Lo Amend the ComplaintExhibits 1-4 . ......... ... ... ... .. ... 3
Affirmation of Scott W. Parker, Esq. inReply . ... . ... ... . oL 4

: Chasc states that it was improperly sued as “Chase Bank, N.A.”" and that its proper name

is JPMorgan Chasc Bank, N.A.

2 In his Aflirmation in Opposition, counsel seeks 10 amend the caption of the complaint 1o
correct Chase’s name. No notice of motion was filed. Therefore, the Court cannot consider the request.
Counsel also states that: “This Affirmation should be read in conjunction with the auached Memorandum
of Law and Exhibits.” There was no memorandum of law attached to the Affirmation.
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Upon reading the forcgoing papers, it is ORDERED that Chase’s motion to dismiss

PlaintitTs’ complaint and Co-Defendants’ cross-claims 1s granted, with prejudice.

BACKGROUND:

On November 22, 2016, Plaintiffs filed a summons and verilfied complaint alleging lifteen
causes ol'action against the Defendants. The complaint alleges that Plaintiffs entered into a contract
with Mark Rodriguez and Danicile Rodriguez (the “Purchasers™) for the sale of residential real
properly located at 212 Union Valley Road, Mahopac, NY (the “Home™}on or around June 22, 2015,
The contract was conditioned upon the Purchasers securing a mortgage commitment for a Velerans
Administration Mortgage Loan (“VA Mortgage Loan™) {from Chase. (Compl. § 10).

As part of the Purchasers’ application for a VA Mortgage Loan from Chase, a termite and
inscet infestation inspection of the Home was conducted by Deiendant Building Care Corp., a New
York Corporation d/b/a All County Pest Control (*All County™) (Compl. § 12). The complaint
alleges that Chasc had designated Al} County to perform insect and termite inspections of homes to
be used as collateral 1o secure VA Mortgage Loans. (Compl. 4 12). The complaint also alleges that
Chase and All County agreed that All County would provide remediation services for any tnscct or
termite infestation found in such homes. (Compl. § 13).

Ail County, by Edward M. Binns ("Binns™), sharcholder, director, oftficer and owner of Al
County, issued a written report dated July 22, 2016 rcgarding its inspection of the Home (the
“Report”). The compiaint alleges that the Report “faisely and inaccurately” indicated that there was
cvidence of “wood destroying insects™ in the Home. (Compl. 4 14). Upon receipt of the Report, the
Purchasers demanded that Plai‘nlit'fs pay for remediation of the Home, (Compl. 4 13).

Plaintiffs, upon reccipt ol the Report, hired two “separate, independent, reputable, nationally
known termite and wood destroying insect inspection and remediation companies, ‘Terminix” and
‘Orkin Pest Control’™ to inspect and report on the presence of termites at the Homie (Compl. ¥ 16).
The complaint alleges that these reports indicated that therc was no evidence of termites or wood
destraying inscets in the Fome. These reports were delivered to the Purchasers and the Defendants,

including Chasc, and Plaintiffs allegedly requested that All County’s Report be corrected. (Compl.
116).
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The compiaint alleges that before Plaintitfs had a chance to respond to the Purchasers’
demand for remediation ol the Home, Co-Defendants Coldwell Banker Residential Brokcrage
(*Coldwell™) and Sharon Sheil (“Sheil”) advised the Purchasers and Chase that Plaintiffs refused to
perform the remediation and that the morigage commitment should therefore be denied and the
contract cancelled (Comp!. 4 17).

Upon the alleged refusal ot Chase, All County, and the Co-Deiendants Coldwell and Sheil
lo consider a new inspection or accept the other inspection reports, Plaintifls requested that cither
Terminix or Orkin be permitted lo remediate the [Home. Defendants allegedly refused to consider
this ofTer. (Compl. § 21).

The complaint alleges that Chase declined the morigage commitment as a result of being
advised by Co-Detendants Coldwell and Shiel that Plainiiffs refused to perform the remediation with
All County. (Compl. 4 22, 23).

The complaint alleges that Chase was aware of and permitted All County “to engage in the
practice of producing fraudulent reports and thereby compelling sellers of real property to veterans
obtaining VA Mortgage Loans o pay for unnecessary remediation or risk Delendant Chase.denying
the loan application resuiting in the contract being terminated.” (Compl. § 25).

Chase filed the instant motion to dismiss on May 8, 2017. Chase secks to dismiss Plaintiffs’
seventh, ninth, eleventh and twelflh causes of action allcged against it. The scventh cause of action
alleges that Chase tortiously interfered with Plaintiffs’ contract with the Purchasers, causing “the
conltract to be terminated and the Home to remain unsold.” (Compl. § 55-59). The ninth causc of
action alleges that Chase, together with All County and Binns, violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a) by
engaging in an illegal scheme to defraud and extract money from sellers of residential properties.
(Compl. §64-71). The eleventh cause of action alleges that Chase, together with All County, violated
18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). (Compl. § 75-77). The twelfth cause of action alleges that Chase, together with
All County and Binns, violated I8 U.S.C. § 1962(d) by conspiring “lo engage in the pattern of
racketeering and continue 10 do so”. (Compl. § 78-80). Chase also seeks to disimiss Co-Defendants

Coldwell, Sheil and NRT New York, LLC's cross-claims for indemnification,

L
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DISCUSSION:

Plainuf?’s Seventh Causc of Action - Tortious Interference with Contract:

Chase argues that Plainti{fs have not stated a claim for tortious interference with contract
because they have not alleged a breach of the contract, but have mercly stated that the contract was
“cancelled” or “terminated”. Chase also argues that Plaintitts have failed 1o establish a breach of
contract because they have not alleged any wrongdoing by the Purchasers warranting breach of
conlract. Chase argues that the Purchasers did not breach the contract, but were merely exercising
their right to cancel the contract pursuant to paragraph 8 of the contract and paragraph R2 of the
Purchaser’s Rider.

Chase further argucs that Plaintiffs have not stated a claim for tortious interference with
cantract because they have not alleged any wrongdoing by Chase. Relying on Chambers v Exec.
Mige. Corp., 229 AD2d 416 2™ Dept 1996], Chase argues that its rcliance on a third party vendor
to evaluate or inspect the Property to the dissatistaction of the Plaintiffs does not [orm the basis for
lortious interference. Chase also asserts that it did not act intentionally or improperly in denying the
VA Loan, because it was merely complying with the VA Loan requirements, over which it had ne
control. Chase argues that it could not alter or waive the requirements without written authority from
the Purchasers and approval from the VA. Chase points to the documents attached to counsel’s
affirmation in support.’

Plaintitfs argue that the complaint sulficiently alleges a breach of the contract and that

dciense counsel assigns too much significance to the use of the word “cancelled”. Plaintiffs also

5 [n connection with its motion for dismissal of the complaint, Chase submitted a number
ol documents attached to counsel’s affirmation as exhibits C-K, which it seeks to have the Court 1ake
judicial notice of pursuant 1o CPL.R § 4311(b) and (d). Chase asserts that each document in exhibits C-J
is published and maintained by the Department of Veterans Aftairs and that the document i exhibit K is
published and maintained by the New York Department of Environmental Conservation, Bureau of Pest
Management. Chase contends that the Court may take judicial notice of these documents, as they are
public records and are “promulgated by a federal government agency™. Chase did not provide the exact
website links of the documents attached as exhibits to its motion.

Plaintiffs did not contest the existence of these documents on the website. However, Plaintiffs
argued that these documents are not documents within the meaning of CPLR § 3211(a)(1), nor arc they
rules or statutes. Plaintiffs argue thut the documents do not establish that PlaintifTs were nol required to
remediate the Home.
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arguc that the contract was not terminable at will, and that but for Chasc’s denial of a morigage
commitment, the contract would have been consummated.

Plaintiffs also argue that the complaint sufficiently allcges misconduct by Chase. In support,
Plainti{ls quote paragraphs 56, 57, 58, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69 and 73 of the complaint.

CPLR § 3211(a)(7) provides that: “A party may move for judgment dismissing one or more
causes of action asserted against him on the ground that: 7. the pleading fails (o state a causc of
aclion”.

On a motion to dismiss pursuant to CPLR § 3211(a}(7), the court must “afford the pleading
a liberal construction, accept all facts as alleged in the pleading to be true, accord the plaintifi the
bencfit of cvery possible inference, and determine only whether the facts as alleged fit within any
cognizable legal theory.” Endiess Ocean, LLC v Twomey, Latham, Shea, Kelley, Dubin &
Quartararo, 113 AD3d 587, 588-89 {2™ Dept 2014].

‘There are four elements 1o a claim for tortious interference with contract: *(1) the existence
of a contract, enforceable by the plaintiff, (2) the defendant’s knowledge of the existence of that
contract, (3) the intentional procurcment by the defcndant of the breach of the contract, and (4)
resultant damages to the plaintiff” Joan Hansen & Co., Inc. v Everlast World's Boxing
Headguarters Corp., 296 AD2d 103 [1* Dept 2002]. The claim presupposes that a contract has been
breached. Lama Holding Co v Swiith Barney. Inc., 88 NY2d 413,424 [1996] (*Tortious interference
with contract requires . . . actual breach of the contract . . .”); NBT Bancorp. Inc v Fleet/Norstar
Financial Group, Inc., BTNY2d 614, 620 [1996] (“Ever since tortious interference with contractual
relations made its first cautious appearance in the New York Reports —decades after the seminal case
Lumiey v Gye (2 E1 & B1 216, 118 Eng.Rep. 749 |1853]) - our Court has rcpeatedly linked
availability of the remedy with a breach of contract. Indeed, breach ot‘co.ntract has rcpeatedly been
listed among the elements of a claim lor tortious interference with contractual relations”).

The complaint does not allege that the Purchasers breached the contract. The complaint
slates thal the contract was “cancelled™ or “terminated™, but docs not allege that the Purchasers acted
contrary to the terms of the contract or did not perform in accordance with the contract, so as to have
breached the contract. “The essential elements of a cause ol action to recover damages for breach
ol contract are the existence of a contract, the plaintifT®s performance pursuant to the contract, the

defendant’s breach of its contractual obligations, and damages resulting from the breach.” PFM
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Packaging Muchinery Corp. v ZMY Food Packing. Inc., 131 AD3d 1029, 1030 [2™ Dept 2015). The
complaint alleges that the “contract was conditioned upon the Purchasers securing a mortgage
commitment for a Veterans Administration Mbrlgagc Loan™ (Compt. 4 13). The complaint also
alleges that the Purchasers cancelled the contract because they could not obtain the necessary
ntorigage commitment from Chase, (Compl. § 23). Plaintiffs do not allege that the Purchasers acted
wrongfully or contrary to the terms of the contract. As such, the complaint has not alleged a breach
of contract. Since Plaintifls have not alleged a breach of contract, they have not alleged tortious
interference with contract with regards to the contract. Lama Holding Co., supra; NBT Bancorp. Inc..
suprd.

In light of the foregoing, the Court need not consider Chase’s other arguments regarding this

cause of action.*

Plaintiffs’ RICO Causes of Action:

Chase argues that the ninth, cleventh and twelfth causes ol action fail because Plaintifls have
failed to plead the elements of a RICO claim. The ninth cause of action alleges that Chase, together
with All County and Binns, violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a) by engaging in an illegal scheme to defraud
and extract money {rom sellers ol residential properties. (Compl. § 64-71). The eleventh cause of
action alteges that Chase, together with All County, violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). (Compl. §75-77).
The twelfth cause ol action alleges that Chase, together with Ali County and Binns, violated 18
U.S.C. § 1962(d) by conspiring “to engage in the pattern of racketeering and continue to do so”.
(Compl. 4§ 78-80).

18 U.S.C. § 1962(a) provides in relevant part that:

It shall be unlawful for any person who has received any income
derived, dircctly or indircctly, from a pattern of racketeering
activity or through colleciion ol an unlawful debt in which such
person has participated as a principal within the meaning of scction
2, title 18, United States Code, to use or invest, directly or indirectly,
any part of such income, or the proceeds of such income, in
acquisition ol any interest in, or the cstablishment or operation of, any

! Chasc’s request that the Court take judicial notice of the VA guidelings it atiached as

exhibits C-K appear (o have been submitted only in relation 1o this cause of action. As such, this
argument aiso need not be considered for the resolution of the remaining claims.

6
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enterprise which is engaged in, or the activities of which affect,
interstate or forcign commerce. (Emphasis added).

18 US.C. § 1962(c) provides that: It shall be unlawful for any person employed by or
associated with any enterprise engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign
commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise’s affairs
through a pattern of racketeering activity or collcction ol unlawlul debt.”

18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) provides that: “It shall be unlawful for any person to conspire to violate
any of the provisions of subsection (a), (b), or (¢) of this section.”

Chase argues that Plaintiffs have failed to allege a predicate act. Chase alleges that
“extortion” requires that the tortfeasor obtain something of value from the victim. Chase asserts that
Plaintifts have not alleged that Chase, All County or Binns acquirced any item of valuc from
Plaintiffs.

' Chasealsoargucs that Plaintiffs have failed to altege a pattern o racketeering activily. Chase
argucs that even if Plaintiffs had alleged a predicate act of extortion, Plaintiffs did not allege a
second occurrence of the predicate actl. Chase argues that Plaintiffs’ speculation that Chase, together
with All County and Binns, engaged in extortion of other sellers of residential real property, is not
sullicient to allege a second occurrence ot the predicate act.

Chase further argues that Plaintiffs have failed to allege that Chasc was part of an
association-in-fact enterprise. Chase argues that it did not participate in the conduct alleged by
Plaimiffs, that only All County and Binns would benefit from the alleged conduct, and that its
interests were not furthered by denying the Purchasers’ loan application. Chasc argues that it was
merely conducting its own aflairs, and was not acting in furtherance of an alleged enterprise’s affairs.

Chase argues that since Plaintifls failed to allege a RICO claim, the twelfth cause of action
for a RICO conspiracy must also fail.

Plaintiffs argues that they properly pleaded a predicate act of extortion. Plaintiffs arpuc that
although they did not pay Defcndants. they were damaged by the breach of the contract. Plaintifts
arguc that the complaint alleges that Chase took money [rom residential homeowners for
unnccessary services.

Plaintiffs argue that they have sufliciently alleged a pattemn of racketeering activity. In

support, Plaintiffs quote paragraphs 65-69 of their complaint. Plainti{Ts arguc that the complaint
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alleges that the conduct alleged by Plaintifls against Delendants is occurring (o other homeowners,
and that this allegation should be accepted as truc. Plaintitfs also assert that the allegation does not
need to be more specifically pleaded.

Plaintiffs argue that the complaint alleges that each of the Defendants benclitted from the
alleged conduct, that Chase took money from residential homcowners for unnccessary services, and
thal “[t]he nature and extent of the benelit for Chase and its employees and agents will be determined
through discovery.” (Affirmation of Mitchell P. Licberman, par. 13). Plaintifls also assert that Chasc
was “clearly” involved in an association with All County and Binns.

Plaintiffs argue that it has sulliciently alleged an agreement tantamount to a conspiracy
among the Defendants.

In reply, Chase argucs that in order 10 determine whether there is a pattern of racketeering
activity, the Court must Jook to see whether there is sutlicient continuity of the predicate acts to
comprise a patiern. Chasc asserts that continuity can be “closed ended”™ or “open ended”. Chase
argucs that Plaintiffs have not alleged either. Chase argues that there is no closed ended continuity
here because [tom the date the Plaintiffs entered into the listing agreement on March 26, 2015 to the
date on which the Purchasers cancelled the contract on August 30; 2015, only five months had
passed, which is too short a duration to qualify as a closed ended continuity. Chase also argucs that
therc is no open ended conlinuity here because there is no threat of future acts relating to Plaintifts’
property since the contract was cancelled, and Plaintifts only vaguely refer 10 an illegal scheme to
defraud unidentificd sellers of residential property.

......

“merely hoping that discovery might onc day address those deliciencies”.

Plainiiff's Eleventh Cause of Action - I8 U S C. § 1962(c)*:

*|A| violation of section 1962(c) ‘requires (1) conduct (2) ol an enterprise (3) through a
pattern (4) of racketeering activity .... Conducting an cnterprise that affects interstatc commerce is
obviously not in itself a violation of 1962, nor is mere commission of the predicate offenses. '™

Maddaloni Jewelers, Inc. v Rolex Waich U.S.A., Inc., 354 F Supp 2d 293, 299 [SDNY 2004).

§ Section (¢) will be addressed first as the Court’s determination of the parties® arguments

with respect 10 this section will result in the disposition of section {a).

8
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Plainiit‘t‘s have not stated a pattern of racketeering activity. In order to establish a pattern of
racketeering activity, Plaintift must allege two or more predicate acts which are related and “posc
a threat ol continuous criminal activity”. Reich v Lopez, 858 £3d 55, 39 [2™ Cir. 2017); 18 US.C.
§ 1961(5); Greenstone Roberts Advertising/Florida, Inc. Vv Gold Star Cruises of Galveston, L.C.,
951 F Supp 402, 402 |EDNY 1997]; East 32" St. Assoc. v Jones Lang Wootton USA, 191 AD2d 68
[ Dept 1993).

PlaintifTs have not alleged more than one potential predicate act. The complaint alleges that
Chase hired and knowingly permitted All County to make a false report of termite infestation in the
Plaintiffs’ home, which would have required Plaintiffs to pay for an unnccessary remediation.
Plaintiffs have not alleged more than one such instance. Plaintiffs do not argue in their opposition
that any other predicate acts were alleged 1n the complaint. A blanke! statement that the alleged
extorlion is occurring to others is not sufticient 1o allege a second predicate act. Jaggie v Northstar
Tubular Corp., 195 AD2d 336,336 [ 1¥ Dept 1993] (“In order to satisfy this requirement ol the RICO
slatute, a plaintiff must allege that the defendants commitied at least two of the predicate acts which
arc specifically cnumerated in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1)...7); Dow v Meyers, 182 AD2d 1128 [4" Dept
1992] (**In addition, plainti{f failed to plead, with sufficient particularity, the alleged predicate acts
giving rise to hus RICO causes of action. For predicate acis, plaintiff relics on a singic securitics
transaction and "numerous acts * * * relating to mail fraud and wire {raud’. In alleging mail and wire
fraud, plaintift fatled to ‘specily the time, place, manncr and content of the allegedly fraudulent
matlings and communications’. In the absence of such detail, plaintiff's causes of action cannot
stand™); Lichtenstein v Polizzotto, 152 Mise2d 241,246 |Sup Ct, New York County 1991 | (A party
who seeks to bring a civil action under RICO must set forth in the complaint the predicate offenses
with rcasonable specificity in order lor the Court to identily the predicate acts and be able to
determine their relationship from one to another”). As such. Plaintif(s have failed to plead a pattern
ol racketeering activity, thereby failing to allege a cause of action under § 1962(c).

Accordingly, Chase’s motion to dismiss the eleventh cause ol action is granted.

Plaintiff s Ninth Cause of Action - 18 US.C. § 1962(u):
“['l:]o statc a claim for civil damages under 1962(a), a plaintift must allcge injury from the

delendants” investment ol racketeering income in an enterprise.” Ouaknine v MacFariune, 897 F2d
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75 [2™ Cir. 1990). “The purposc of 18 U.S.C. 1962(a) is ‘to prevent racketeers from using their
illgotien gains 1o operate, or purchase a controlling interest in, legitimate businesses.” In order to
slate aclaim under 1962(a), plaintiff must make two basic allegations: *first, that the defendants used
or invested racketeering income 1o acquire or maintain an interest in the alleged enterprise, and
sccond, that the plaintuff]s] suffered an injury as a result of that investment by the defendants.’
‘Failure to satisfy this two part test will result in the dismissal of the plaintifts’ claims.” This latter
requirement is referred to as the ‘investment injury,” The rationale for this requirement is that
1962(a) aims at punishing not the predicate offenses but the investment of the ill-gotten gains of the
predicale offenses.” Affen v New World Coffee. Inc., 2002 WL 432685, a1 *2 [SDNY 2002).

A review of § 1962(a) reveuls that it presupposcs that a pattern ol racketcering activity has
been established. Since Plaintiffs have not alleged a patiern of racketeering activity, Plaintiffs have
lailed to allege a cause of action under § 1962(a). ’

Accordingly, Chasc’s motion to dismiss the ninth cause of action is granted.

Nwelfth Cause of Action - 18 US.C. § 1962(d):

“"|A] claim under section 1962(d) alleging a conspiracy to violate the other subsections fails
as a matter of law if the substantive claims based on the other subsections are defective.” Peralta
v Fligueroa, 2007 WI.4104122, a*12 [Sup Ct, Kings County 2007 |; Grafsiein v Schwariz, 78 AD3d
772, 773 |2™ Dept 2010} (*As the ninth cause of action based upon 18 USC 1962(d), alleging a
conspiracy, is dependent upon the cighth causc of action alleging a substantive RICQ violation,
dismissal of the cighth cause of action necessitated the dismissal of the ninth cause of action™).

As Plaintifls’ § 1962(a) and § 1962(c) causes of action have been dismissed, Plaintif{s cannot
stale a cause of action under § 1962(d) based on a conspiracy 10 violaic those sections.

Accordingly, Chase’s motion (o dismiss the twellth causc of action is granted.

Afl Other Causes of Action:
Chase argues that the remaining causes of action must be dismisscd because they do not
allege any wrongdoing by Chase. Plaintiffs do not opposc. To the cxtent that the wherefore clause

can be read as secking damages against Chase under the remaining causes of action, which do not
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-

allege any wrongdoing by Chase, it is improper and the remaining causcs of action must be
dismissed against Chase.

Accordingly, Chase’s motion to disnuss the remaining causes of action against it is granted.

Co-Defendants’ Cross-Claims:
Chase argues that the Co-Delendants’ cross-claims for indemnification and contribution
should be dismissed because it is not liable to Plaintiffs. Neither Plaintiffs nor the Co-Defendants

oppose. Accordingly, the Co-Defendants’ cross-claims against Chasc are dismissed as unopposed.

SUMMARY:

Chase’s motion 1o dismiss Plaintiffs” complaint against it pursuanito CPLR § 3211(a)(1) and
(7) is granted in its entirety, with prejudice.

Chase’s motion to dismiss the Co-Defendants’ cross-claims against it is granted in its
entirety, with prejudice.

The foregoing constitutes the Decision and Order of the Court.

Dated: Ocloberdha, 2017 ENTER

Carmel, New York ﬁ \
\

HON. PAUL I. MARX, J.S.C.
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To:

Mitchell P. Lieberman, Esq. ¢ Scott W. Parker, Esq.

i Lieberman & LeBowvil ¢ Parker Ibrahim & Berg, LLC :
L Attorneys for Plaintiffs i Atrorneys for Defendant. JPMorgan Chase Bank,

: 334 Underhill Ave. #4A P NAL improperly sihfa Chase Bank, N A.

! Yorktown Heights. NY 10598 270 Davidson Ave. :
: Somerset, NJ 08873

P Christina L. Gallinari, Esq.

Ahmuty, Demers & McManus. Esqs.
Attorneys for Defendants Sharon Sheil, NKT New
{ York, LLC. a Delaware Lunited Liabifity

* Company, Coldwell Banker Residential
Brokerage, a Delenware Linvited Liability

i Company

L1531 Route 82

. Hopewell Junction, NY 12533
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